THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Feb 24 2021

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2021-000037

Unpublished Opinion No. 2020-UP-263 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 9, 2020)

Phillip DeClemente, a/k/a Alec Rochford, Petitioner,

v.

Assistive Technology Medical Equipment Services, LLC;
Jeffrey Reed; Murrell G. Smith, Respondents,

and

Phillip DeClemente, a/k/a Phillip Goodpaster, Petitioner,

v.

Assistive Technology Medical Equipment Services, LLC
(ATMES); Jeffrey Reed; Murrell G. Smith, Respondents.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Other Counsel of Record:

CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL

Counsel for Petitioner certifies that a Petition for Rehearing was made on October 26, 2020 and finally denied by the Court of Appeals on December 21, 2020.

INTRODUCTION¹

Appellate Case No. 2018-001413 consolidates two separate appeals from dispositive decisions issued by the circuit court in Case No. 2015-CP-10-3325 (“2015 action/lawsuit” and “breach of contract action/lawsuit”) and Case No. 2017-CP-10-5055 (“2017 action/lawsuit” and “declaratory judgment action/lawsuit”). Both the 2015 and 2017 lawsuits pertain to contracts executed between the parties setting the terms and conditions of Respondents’ purchase of Mr. DeClemente’s ownership interest in the parties’ co-founded durable medical equipment supply company, Assistive Technology Medical Equipment Services, LLC (“ATMES”). Each case and its issues will be addressed separately, beginning with the 2015 breach of contract suit.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED: No. 2015-CP-10-3325

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the discovery rule bars this lawsuit on statute of limitations grounds, while failing to acknowledge and enforce the Promissory Note’s unambiguous language and maturity date?
 - A. Did the Court of Appeals err in its failure to examine the Promissory Note’s language and maturity date when applying the discovery rule to its determination of the statute of limitations’ expiration date?
 - B. Does the Court of Appeal’s decision conflict with this Court’s prior decisions governing creditors’ rights and contract enforcement?

¹ “In cases seeking review of a decision of the Court of Appeals, Rule 242, SCACR, requires the Petitioner to file two copies of an Appendix. This requirement is suspended. Instead, the necessary documents to comprise the Appendix will be obtained from the electronic records of the case before the Court of Appeals.” *See*, Order Re: Operation of Appellate Courts During the Coronavirus Emergency, Section (e) (As Amended May 29, 2020)). All citations herein shall be to the Record on Appeal filed with the South Carolina Court of Appeals in Appellate Case No. 2018-001413.

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in refusing to consider, on issue preservation grounds, emails sent from Respondent Reed to DeClemente, establishing Respondents' expressed intent to satisfy the Promissory Note?
 - A. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding Respondent Reed's email unpreserved, where the subject email was also submitted to the circuit court and considered as the court as evidence in DeClemente's opposition to Respondent's summary judgment motion?
 - B. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that DeClemente was required to file a Rule 59(e) motion to preserve the subject email argument for appellate review?
3. Did the Court of Appeals err in ruling, as an additional sustaining ground, that this breach of contract action constitutes a compulsory counterclaim to Respondents' 2011 lawsuit?
 - A. Did the Court of Appeals err by exceeding the scope of its discretion under Rule 220(c), SCACR, and *I'On v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*?
 - B. Did the Court of Appeals err by incorrectly applying the "logical relationship" test, as stated by this Court in *N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. DAV Corp.*?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE: No. 2015-CP-10-3325

Petitioner DeClemente's 2015 breach of contract lawsuit seeks to recover money Respondents owe Mr. DeClemente. Respondents' debt is secured by the parties' Promissory Note ("Note"). (R. pp. 107-111). With monthly installments which began July 30, 2009, Respondents are required to pay Petitioner a total of \$265,000.00, plus interest, in exchange for DeClemente's 25% ownership interest in their durable medical equipment company, Assistive Technology Medical Equipment Services ("ATMES"). (R. p. 107). The monthly payment amount is \$7,341.84. (R. p. 107, Section (3)(B)). In the event of missed payments, the Note does not require DeClemente to declare Respondents in default. (R. p. 108, Section (6)(C)). Instead, DeClemente reserves the right to declare contractual breach and enforce the Note at any time until March 2, 2016, three years after Note's maturity date. (R. pp. 107-111).

Petitioner filed this breach of contract lawsuit on June 11, 2015, more than eight months prior to the Promissory Note's maturity date. (R. pp. 92-124). Respondents moved for dismissal

on July 15, 2015, arguing that the three-year statute of limitations period began accrual in September of 2011, and that Petitioner's suit was barred as untimely. (R. pp. 125-126). Respondents' motion to dismiss was heard and granted by Judge Markley Dennis on January 14, 2016. (R. p. 23). DeClemente filed a motion to amend judgment and pleadings on January 25, 2016, making several arguments establishing the lawsuit's timeliness. (R. 458-471). Judge Dennis heard and granted DeClemente's motion on February 19, 2016. Judge Dennis found that since the statute of limitations began to accrue on the Note's maturity date, DeClemente's breach of contract claim on the Note was timely. (R. pp. 608-611).

Mr. DeClemente filed his Amended Complaint on March 22, 2016. (R. 472-476). Respondents then filed another statute of limitations-based motion to dismiss, (R. p. 477-478), which was denied. (R. p. 25). Respondents filed a summary judgment motion on September 20, 2017 arguing, for the third time, that DeClemente's breach of contract suit was filed outside the statute of limitations. (R. p. 495). Judge Nicholson heard Respondents' motion on December 11, 2017. Prior to the hearing, DeClemente submitted documents to the circuit court in support of his argument, including relevant pleadings, emails sent from Respondent Reed to DeClemente, and a letter from Respondent Smith to DeClemente's counsel, in which Reed and Smith re-affirmed Respondents' intent to fully satisfy the Note. *See, (Petition for Rehearing, p. 15)*² (Listing the twelve items submitted to Judge Nicholson for consideration, with each document's citation to the Record on Appeal). At the hearing, Judge Nicholson informed counsel that he would render a decision on Respondents' motion after reading Judge Dennis' Order denying Respondents' first motion to dismiss on statute of limitations grounds. (R. p. 642:16-19). Judge Dennis' written

² Mr. DeClemente's Petition for Rehearing is contained in the record before the appellate court. *See, n. 1, supra.* Mr. DeClemente's *Petition for Rehearing and Suggestion for Rehearing En Banc*, hereinafter cited as "*Petition for Rehearing.*"

Order, denying Respondents' first motion to dismiss, was not filed until May 16, 2018. (R. pp. 49-51).

On July 2, 2018, Judge Nicholson granted Respondents' summary judgment motion based upon Respondents' identical statute of limitations argument. (R. pp. 5-10). Judge Nicholson's summary judgment Order does not address, nor even acknowledge, the Promissory Note's unambiguous provisions, including its maturity date.

Petitioner filed Notice of Appeal July 27, 2018. (R. p. 576). Oral arguments in the Court of Appeals were scheduled for March 9, 2020, but were canceled. On September 9, 2020, the appellate court issued an unpublished Opinion affirming Judge Nicholson's grant of summary judgment, which is based on the circuit court's application of the discovery rule to its statute of limitations analysis. *DeClemente v. Assistive Tech. Med. Equip. Servs., LLC*, Unpublished Opinion No. 2020-UP-263 (Ct. App. Sept. 9, 2020). The Court of Appeals also found unpreserved DeClemente's alternative, *arguendo* argument (that emails sent from Respondent Reed to DeClemente after Respondents sued DeClemente in 2011 establish unwavering intent to satisfy the Note even after filing suit) unpreserved for review. As an additional sustaining ground, the appellate court held that DeClemente's 2015 breach of contract lawsuit is barred by the doctrine of res judicata, as a compulsory counterclaim to Respondents' 2011 lawsuit against DeClemente and several other defendants.

On October 26, 2020, Petitioner moved for rehearing and filed a Motion For Leave to Supplement the Record on Appeal³ with proof that Judge Nicholson was in fact provided the subject email, along with other similar emails, prior to the December 11, 2017 summary

³ Mr. DeClemente's Motion for Leave to Supplement the Record on Appeal is contained in the record before the appellate court. *See*, n. 1, *supra*. Mr. DeClemente's *Motion for Leave to Supplement the Record on Appeal*, hereinafter cited as "*Motion to Supplement*."

judgment hearing, contrary to the Court of Appeals' finding that the email was unpreserved. (*Petition for Rehearing*, pp. 5-24); (*Motion to Supplement*, pp. 1-6, Exhibits A and B). The Court of Appeals denied DeClemente's Motion to Supplement on November 16, 2020, and denied his Petition for Rehearing on December 21, 2020. Petitioner now seeks Writ of Certiorari from this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision.

ARGUMENT: No. 2015-CP-10-3325

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN FAILING TO ACKNOWLEDGE AND ENFORCE THE PROMISSORY NOTE'S LANGUAGE AND MATURITY DATE, AND ERRONEOUSLY HELD THIS ACTION BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

At issue in DeClemente's 2015 breach of contract lawsuit is whether the Note's maturity date or the discovery rule properly controls the court's statute of limitations calculation. Specifically, did Respondents' alleged expression of intent to breach the Promissory Note, by suing DeClemente in 2011, invoke the discovery rule and cause statute of limitations accrual to begin? In direct opposition to the Court of Appeals' decision, long-established Supreme Court precedent holds that a contract's maturity date determines the statute of limitations. The circuit and appellate courts erroneously held that the statute of limitations in this breach of contract suit is determined by application of the discovery rule, rather than the Promissory Note's unambiguous language and maturity date. The Court of Appeals' Opinion directly conflicts with binding precedent and requires reversal.

A. The Court Of Appeals Was Required To Examine And Enforce The Note's Unambiguous Language And Maturity Date To Determine Their Effect On Statute of Limitations Calculation.

Inexplicably, both the circuit court and the Court of Appeals relied upon the discovery rule in holding DeClemente's 2015 breach of contract action to be untimely; giving no

recognition or analysis to the Promissory Note's maturity date, or any of its other unambiguous binding provisions.

The discovery rule provides that “a breach of contract action accrues not on the date of the breach, but rather on the date the aggrieved party either discovered the breach, or could or should have discovered the breach through exercise of reasonable diligence.” *CoastalStates Bank v. Hanover Homes*, 408 S.C. 510, 517, 759 S.E.2d 152, 156 (Ct.App. 2014). But in the case at bar, precedent dictates that the statute of limitations be determined by the Promissory Note's language and maturity date. *See, CoastalStates Bank v. Hanover Homes of South Carolina*, 408 S.C. 510, 516-18, 759 S.E.2d 152, 156-57 (Ct. App. 2014) (finding that the statute of limitations begin to accrue on maturity dates provided in promissory notes with guaranties).

“Where a motion for summary judgment presents a question concerning the construction of a written contract, the question is one of law if the language employed by the contract is plain and unambiguous.” *Moss v. Porter Bros., Inc.*, 292 S.C. 444, 447, 357 S.E.2d 25, 27 (Ct.App. 1987). “In construing and determining the effect of a written contract, the intention of the parties and the meaning are gathered primarily from the contents of the writing itself, or, as otherwise stated, from the four corners of the document.” *Silver v. Abstract Pools & Spas, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 585, 591, 658 S.E.2d 539, 542 (Ct. App. 2008) (quoting *McPherson v. J.E. Serrine & Co.*, 206 S.C. 183, 204, 33 S.E.2d 501, 509 (1945)). Courts will not consider evidence arising outside the four corners of a contract if the “contract is clear, unambiguous, and capable of only one reasonable interpretation.” *Silver*, 592, 658 S.E.2d at 543. A party to a contract is not free “to

reinterpret written contract terms midstream because he is unhappy with the contract he executed.” *Id.*⁴

Mr. DeClemente’s evidence and argument in opposition to summary judgment, presented to the circuit court by memoranda and oral argument, is based on the Promissory Note’s plain and unambiguous terms, including its maturity date. The Note provides DeClemente the right to file suit for Respondents’ breach of contract at a time of his choosing, provided he does so prior to the statute of limitations’ March 2, 2016 expiration.⁵ The Promissory Note provides as follows:

1. Section 6(B) of the Promissory Note, entitled “*Notice of Default*,” states that DeClemente “*may*” give notice demanding payment of an overdue balance if Respondents are in default, and that he “*may*” accelerate the principal balance if Respondents fail to make payment after at least thirty days notice. (R. p. 108);
2. Section 6(C), entitled “*No Waiver by Note Holder*,” states that if Respondents are in default and DeClemente does not chose to enforce payment under Section 6(B), he “will still have the right to do so if [Respondents] are in default at a later time.” (*Id.*);
3. Section 8, entitled “*WAIVERS*,” states that Respondents waive “the right to require [DeClemente] to demand payment of amounts due,” as well as “the right to require [DeClemente] to give notice to other persons that amounts due have not been paid.” (R. p. 109); and

⁴ *See also, Bannon v. Knauss*, 282 S.C. 589, 593, 320 S.E.2d 470, 472 (Ct. App. 1984) (“Interpretation of the contract is governed by the objective manifestation of the parties’ assent at the time the contract was made. It does not depend on the subjective, after the fact meaning one party assigns to it.”); *Blakeley v. Rabon*, 266 S.C. 68, 221 S.E.2d 767, 769 (1976) (“Words cannot be read into a contract which impart intent wholly unexpressed when the contract was executed.”).

⁵ This argument was made in Petitioner’s Motion to Amend Judgment and Pleadings, (R. pp. 460-461), after Judge Dennis initially erroneously granted Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss based on the statute of limitations. This argument was made part of the record for Judge Nicholson’s consideration under Rule 56, SCRCP.

4. Section 3(A), entitled “*Time and Place of Payments*,” states that “[i]f on March 1st, 2013, [Respondents] still owe[] amounts under this Promissory Note, [Respondents] will pay those amounts in full on that date, which is called the “Maturity Date.” (R. p. 107).

The Note’s language is unambiguous throughout, including the issues of breach and maturity date. The Note provides that Respondents’ failure to make monthly payments does not constitute a breach unless and until: 1) Petitioner elects to enforce payment; *or* 2) Respondents fail to fully satisfy their debt by the maturity date. The Promissory Note *does not* provide, as Respondents incorrectly argue, that the debtor’s alleged expression of intent to breach constitutes a contractual, actual, legal breach. Nor does the Promissory Note provide that Respondents’ filing of a lawsuit against Mr. DeClemente constitutes a breach.

Judge Dennis’ statute of limitations ruling denying Respondents’ motion to dismiss is in accord with established South Carolina precedent.⁶ The Court of Appeals erred in failing to properly calculate the statute of limitations by examining the Note’s maturity date, and failing to enforce its provisions.

South Carolina law governing enforcement of unambiguous contracts is not complex. “South Carolina follows an objective contract interpretation rule, meaning that if the language of a contract is perfectly plain and capable of legal construction, such language determines the force and effect of the instrument.” *Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. City of Rock Hill*, 501 F.3d 368,

⁶ The difference between the scope of consideration allotted to the trial court on motions for summary judgment under Rule 56, SCRCF, and for dismissal under Rule 12, has been highlighted by both Respondents and the lower courts. However, this difference is irrelevant. Although motions for dismissal require the circuit court to make a ruling based on the four corners of the Complaint, Rule 12, SCRCF, DeClemente’s 2015 lawsuit was filed with the Promissory Note attached as an exhibit. (R. p. 107). Judge Dennis’ ruling was based on the clear language of the Promissory Note as written, and enforced the maturity date as intended by the parties. Thus, Judge Dennis’ ruling involved a correct interpretation and enforcement of unambiguous contract terms as provided by law.

372 (4th Cir. 2007) (quoting *Blakeley v. Rabon*, 266 S.C. 68, 221 S.E.2d 767, 769 (1976)). When the contract is unambiguous concerning a disputed issue, “[t]he court's duty is to enforce the contract made by the parties regardless of its wisdom or folly, apparent unreasonableness, or the parties' failure to guard their rights carefully.” *Ellis v. Taylor*, 316 S.C. 245, 248, 449 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1994).

As Judge Dennis properly did, Judge Nicholson was also required to enforce the terms of the parties’ Promissory Note. The circuit and appellate courts were not at liberty to disregard the parties’ contract in determining the time at which Respondents breached and the statute of limitations began to accrue. *See generally, U.S. Bank Trust Nat. Ass’n v. Bell*, 385 S.C. 364, 379, 684 S.E.2d 199, 207 (Ct. App. 2009) (The Court of Appeals stating, “[w]e are without authority to alter an unambiguous contract by construction or to make new contracts for the parties.”); *C.A.N. Enterprises, Inc. v. S.C. Health & Human Servs. Fin. Comm’n*, 296 S.C. 373, 373 S.E.2d 584 (1988) (This Court stating that the judiciary’s “duty is limited to the interpretation of the contract made by the parties themselves.”).

The Court of Appeals lacks authority to refuse recognition and enforcement of the Promissory Note. The Court of Appeals’ refusal to acknowledge and enforce the Note’s language and maturity date, and to properly calculate the statute of limitations accordingly, violates precedent and warrants discretionary review by this Court.

B. The Court of Appeals’ Erroneous Statute of Limitations Decision Conflicts With This Court’s Prior Decisions Involving Creditor’s Rights And Enforcement of Maturity Date Contracts.

South Carolina Supreme Court precedent holds that the statute of limitations for breach of maturity contracts commences when: 1) the creditor demands the entire balance owed; *or* 2) the contract’s maturity date.

In *Town of Cheraw v. Turnage*, 184 S.C. 76, 191 S.E. 831 (1937), this Court held that a debtor's nonpayment of an early installment does not render the entire balance immediately due, and does not commence accrual of the statute of limitations. The Court held that the limitations period does not begin until the last installment matures, unless the creditor exercises its right to accelerate the balance based on the debtor's default. *Town of Cheraw*, 191 S.E. at 832. *Cheraw* establishes that a debtor does not have the right to accelerate the balance of the principle. *See, id.* (Stating that "[e]very reason for entering into [an acceleration] provision bespeaks its optional character with the creditor").

This same fundamental principle of contract law echoes throughout South Carolina creditors' jurisprudence. In *Citizens and Southern Nat. Bank of South Carolina v. Lanford*, 313 S.C. 540, 443 S.E.2d 549 (1994), this Court stated "[a] guaranty of payment is an absolute or unconditional promise to pay a particular debt if it is not paid by the debtor *at maturity*." *Id.* 313 S.C. at 543, 443 S.E.2d at 550 (emphasis added). The Court further stated that "the creditor *may* maintain an action against the guarantor immediately upon default of the debtor." *Id.* (emphasis added). The decision of when to sue a defaulting debtor is the creditor's, and the creditor maintains the right to file suit at any time within three years of the obligation's maturity date.

More recently, in *CoastalStates Bank v. Hanover Homes of South Carolina, LLC*, 408 S.C. 510, 759 S.E.2d 152 (2014), this Court applied the discovery rule to determine the statute of limitations for promissory notes with guaranties. The Court held that "the statute of limitations on an action on an absolute guaranty, which is conditioned only on the debtor's default, begins to run when the obligation matures and the debtor defaults." *CoastalStates Bank*, 408 S.C. at 156, 759 S.E.2d at 517 (quoting 38 Am.Jur.2d *Guaranty* § 96, at 1040 (2010)).

The Court of Appeals' erroneous statute of limitations ruling conflicts with this Court's binding precedent, requires reversal, and warrants discretionary review by this Honorable Court.

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