**RECEIVED**

**Apr 19 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000037

---

Unpublished Opinion No. 2020-UP-263 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 9, 2020)

---

Phillip DeClemente, a/k/a Alex Rochford, ..... Petitioner,

v.

Assistive Technology Medical Equipment  
Services, LLC; Jeffrey Reed; Murrell G. Smith, ..... Respondents,

and

Phillip DeClemente, a/k/a Phillip Goodpaster, ..... Petitioner,

v.

Assistive Technology Medical Equipment  
Services, LLC (ATMES); Jeffrey Reed; Murrell G. Smith, ..... Respondents.

---

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

There are two reasons to affirm the judgment in the 2017 case. First, the order dismissing the 2015 case held this same exact claim was barred by the statute of limitations.

That ruling has not been appealed. Res judicata bars further litigation. The second reason is related—the 2011 default judgment is res judicata between these parties. DeClemente may not use a declaratory judgment to re-litigate his liability in the 2011 case.

**I. The Court of Appeals did not err in deciding the circuit court properly held the statute of limitations for DeClemente to sue Respondents began running when Respondents sued him for fraud, necessarily communicating their intent to breach the 2009 buyout.**

The circuit court properly held the statute of limitations for DeClemente to sue Respondents for breaching DeClemente’s June of 2009 buyout began running when Respondents stopped paying DeClemente and sued him. (7/2/18 Or.pp.4-5). The circuit court found a reasonable observer would view these actions as a clear signal that Respondents did not intend to further comply with DeClemente’s June of 2009 buyout. *Id.* That finding was right. This Court should affirm the circuit court’s judgment.

There is a three-year statute of limitations on suits for breach of contract. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1). The discovery rule applies to breach of contract actions. *Mitchell v. Holler*, 311 S.C. 406, 409 n.2, 429 S.E.2d 793, 795 n.2 (1993). Under the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when the right to sue “reasonably ought to have been discovered” and “from the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct.” *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996).

The circuit court correctly found DeClemente knew or should have known he had a cause of action since the middle or end of 2011. Since this was more than three years

before he filed the 2015 lawsuit, the circuit court correctly concluded the suit was barred.

First, there is the fact that Respondents stopped paying. The summary judgment record included all of the checks ATMES sent DeClemente pursuant to the 2009 buyout. From July of 2009 to June of 2011 ATMES sent DeClemente twenty-five (25) checks for the payments under the promissory note. (Aff. of Martha Jo Johnson, pp.19-43). The records do not reflect any payments on the note after June of 2011.

Second, there is the lawsuit. Respondents sued DeClemente in November of 2011, naming him as a defendant on claims alleging deceit, fraud, negligence, and a civil conspiracy to misrepresent Abacare's financial information. Respondents were claiming DeClemente participated in a scheme to sell them a company that he and his former partners knew was vastly overvalued. No reasonable person would have believed Respondents would pay DeClemente *more* money at the same time they were alleging him was part of a scheme to sell them a company that did not keep accurate books and that may have engaged in fraud.

The circuit court cited this Court's decision in *Maher v. Titex Corp.* as comparable. (7/2/18 Or.pp.4-5). That was a good comparison. *Maher* involved the alleged breach of a contract to pay an annual performance bonus. This Court reversed a jury verdict in the plaintiff's favor, noting the plaintiff's own testimony illustrated that he had approached his boss and received unsatisfactory answers about the bonus more than three years before the plaintiff filed suit. 331 S.C. 371, 379-380, 500 S.E.2d 204, 208 (Ct. App. 1998). This Court explained the statute of limitations requires "very little to start the clock" and that the only reasonable inference was that the plaintiff should have known, at least after his

demotion at work, that an alleged right of his had been invaded and that a claim against his employer might exist. 331 S.C. at 380, 500 S.E.2d at 208.

There is no serious dispute that the same rationale applies here. Nobody disputes Respondents ceased paying DeClemente at some point in 2011. There is a small dispute about when the payments stopped. DeClemente's says September of 2011. (DeClemente Aff.p.2, ¶8). There is no documented checks past June. (Johnson Aff.p.43). Still, nobody disputes the payments completely stopped. It seems evident there was a distinct breach.

DeClemente says there were some personal checks and partial payments from Respondent Reed, but even DeClemente acknowledged in his deposition these stopped as soon as he was sued. He explained "I was told they were going to catch up and make payments and to meet this guy to get the payment. And when I did, your clients handed me the lawsuit." (DeClemente Depo.p.44, line 21 - p.45, line 5). Again, no reasonable person would have believed Respondents would pay DeClemente more money on his buyout when they had completely stopped paying him and while they were also charging him with a civil conspiracy and fraud.

**II. The summary judgment in Respondents' favor is supported by independent grounds other than the statute of limitations.**

The summary judgment in Respondents' favor is also supported by two independent grounds other than the statute of limitations. First, DeClemente's arguments are either wrong outright or barred from consideration because he did not make them below. Second, DeClemente's theory of the case requires this same claim to have been brought as a counterclaim in 2011. Since DeClemente did not file a valid answer to the

2011 lawsuit, his argument compels the conclusion that his breach of contract claim is barred.

**a. DeClemente’s arguments are either wrong outright or barred from consideration because he did not make them below.**

DeClemente’s lead argument for reversal is that Judge Nicholson—the circuit judge who granted Respondents’ motion for summary judgment—impermissibly reversed the prior decision of Judge Dennis. Judge Dennis denied Respondents’ motion to dismiss.

The principle that one circuit court judge cannot overrule another applies to rulings on the merits. A helpful articulation of this rule appears in *Graham v. Town of Loris*, which explains that when a judge of the court of common pleas makes a decision “on the merits of a matter” that decision is not the judge’s personal opinion, but a judgment of the circuit court. 272 S.C. 442, 449, 248 S.E.2d 594, 597 (1978). *Graham* further explains “[t]here is no appeal from one Circuit Judge to another” and that one circuit judge may not review “the same state of facts” and change, alter, or reverse another circuit judge’s decision. 272 S.C. at 449, 248 S.E.2d at 597.

Judge Nicholson and Judge Dennis reviewed different issues and different facts. Judge Dennis was tasked with deciding a motion to dismiss. As the Court is aware, such a motion is confined to the four corners of the complaint. Judge Nicholson decided a motion for summary judgment. As the Court is aware, summary judgment motions generally involve matters outside the complaint; matters like depositions, admissions, affidavits, and the other forms of information listed in Rule 56(c), SCRC.P.

Judge Dennis mentioned this difference at the hearing. He explained he was

allowing the first cause of action proceed beyond the motion to dismiss stage because DeClemente's complaint mentioned the promissory note's maturity date of March 2013, which was less than three years before DeClemente brought the 2015 case. (2/19/16 Tr.p.2, lines 9-23). Judge Dennis said he did not know whether there was information outside the pleadings that would have caused the statute of limitations to start running before the note's maturity date. *Id.* He then explicitly stated he was not ruling on a summary judgment motion and that his ruling would not preclude a summary judgment motion like the one Respondents filed later. (Id.p.5, line 17 - p.6, line 21). Judge Nicholson did not overrule Judge Dennis.

DeClemente's other argument is that the statute of limitations on an installment contract does not begin running until the maturity date. This misstates the general rule, but even so, DeClemente cannot make this argument because he did not make it below.

The general rule is that the statute of limitations for an installment contract begins running from the time each individual installment becomes due. *Anton A. Vreede, M.D., P.C. v. Koch*, 380 S.E.2d 615, 616-618 (N.C. Ct. App. 1989) (discussing the Williston treaty on Contracts and other authorities). The general rule also provides, however, that a creditor may wait until the maturity date to sue on the entire contract rather than suing after each individual missed payment. *Id.* The rationale for this rule is that if the creditor is willing to surrender his immediate right to sue and to keep the installment contract in effect the creditor should be allowed to do so without prejudice. *Id.*; see also 54 C.J.S. *Limitations of Actions* § 209 (titled "Provisions for acceleration of maturity").

DeClemente never made this argument below. At the motion to dismiss stage, he

argued he did not know Respondents were refusing to pay him until July of 2012. (DeClemente 1/7/16 Memo.p.5); (1/7/16 Tr.p.18, line 12 - p.19, line 5). This was nearly a year before the promissory note matured. July of 2012 was when DeClemente's lawyer received a letter from Respondent Smith explaining ATMES believed DeClemente had caused significantly more damage than whatever balance remained on the note. (Letter).

Again, at no point in DeClemente's written or oral argument on the motion to dismiss was there any mention of limitations being tied to the note's maturity date. See (DeClemente 1/7/16 Memo.pp.1-6) (the written argument); (1/7/16 Tr.pp.1-25) (the hearing transcript).

At the summary judgment stage, DeClemente argued this issue had already been decided by Judge Dennis and that Judge Dennis' decision was the law of the case. (12/11/17 Tr.p.13, lines 1-22). The record does not contain any response by DeClemente to Respondents' argument that stopping payment and suing DeClemente counted as an anticipatory breach and could only be interpreted as repudiating the 2009 buyout. Again, DeClemente's argument was that summary judgment could not be granted because Judge Dennis had previously denied the motion to dismiss.

This matters because error preservation rules strictly limit the appealing party to arguments that the appealing party raised below. A party must try to convince the circuit court it has erred before taking an appeal. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). A corollary of the same principle is that a party may not argue one ground below and a different ground on appeal. *State v. Tucker*, 319 S.C. 425, 428, 462 S.E.2d 263, 265 (1995). The record does not show DeClemente ever

arguing that the statute of limitations for an installment contract does not begin running until maturity.

The general rule about installment contracts appears to have been noted by Judge Dennis sua sponte. (2/19/16 Tr.p.2, lines 10-11). DeClemente's motion to reconsider did not mention the argument. (DeClemente 1/25/16 Mot.pp.1-6). It also bears mentioning that one of the exhibits to DeClemente's motion to reconsider was an e-mail to DeClemente from Respondent Reed saying "we want our money back that we have paid you[.]" (Id.Ex.2, p.5). That e-mail was dated December 9, 2011; roughly three and a half years before DeClemente filed the 2015 suit. Again, any reasonable person would have understood Respondents were not honoring DeClemente's 2009 buyout. They stopped paying them and they sued him.

**b. DeClemente's theory of the case requires this claim to have been brought as a counterclaim in 2011.**

A final reason to affirm the judgment in Respondents' favor on the 2015 case is that under DeClemente's own theory of the litigation, his claim for breach of his 2009 buyout was a compulsory counterclaim to the 2011 lawsuit Respondents brought against him for fraud. Since DeClemente did not file a valid answer to the 2011 lawsuit, his own argument compels the conclusion that his breach of contract claim is barred.

Rule 13(a), SCRCP requires a party to state "any claim" as a counterclaim that "arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party's claim[.]" In other words, a defendant is generally required to bring against the plaintiff all counterclaims that arise out of the same transaction for which the plaintiff is suing the

defendant.

To be clear, DeClemente's 2009 buyout and the 2011 lawsuit against him are not related. The release the parties executed as part of the buyout explains the buyout arose out of "a dispute and disagreement [] between DeClemente and the remaining members of ATMES" and that the parties agreed to release one another from claims growing out of their operation of ATMES. (Release p.1). The 2011 lawsuit, in contrast, relates to conduct prior to the formation of ATMES. As already discussed, the 2011 lawsuit alleged fraud and misrepresentation leading up to the 2008 sale of Abacare.

Even so, DeClemente's theory is that the 2009 release barred the 2011 lawsuit against him. Under that theory, it is hard to see how there can be any other conclusion than the rest of DeClemente's claims for breach of the 2009 buyout would be compulsory counterclaims to the 2011 suit. DeClemente said in his affidavit that the release and promissory note were a part of the same contract. (Aff.p.1, ¶5). His second claim in the 2015 case was that the release barred the 2011 lawsuit. (2015 Compl.pp.5-6). His argument meshes these together. But if they are together, the claims were compulsory and belonged in the 2011 case.

This case is like *Gathings v. Robertson Brokerage Co.*, where a party did not have to bring certain claims as part of the case but was obligated to bring additional claims once the party decided to add certain claims to the suit. 295 S.C. 112, 367 S.E.2d 423 (Ct. App. 1988). There, a defendant chose to implead a third party and bring claims against that party. This obligated the defendant to bring other claims related to the same subject matter.

The same is true here. DeClemente did not have to claim the release from the 2009 buyout as a defense to the 2011 case. But once he did so he was obligated to bring all claims related to the 2009 buyout. The court struck his answer from the 2011 case as untimely. (DeClemente 1/7/16 Memo.pp.4-5). Respondents are not aware of any authority allowing a litigant to bring a subsequent lawsuit raising issues that would have been compulsory counterclaims in a prior lawsuit where the same litigant was denied relief from default.

**III. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in deciding the circuit court correctly dismissed the 2017 declaratory judgment as an improper attempt to re-litigate issues from a prior lawsuit.**

There are two reasons to affirm the judgment in the 2017 case. First, the order of dismissal in the 2015 case held this very same claim was barred by the statute of limitations. That ruling has not been appealed. Res judicata bars further litigation. The second reason is related—the 2011 default judgment is res judicata between these parties. DeClemente may not use a declaratory judgment to re-litigate his liability in the 2011 case.

**a. Judge Dennis’ decision in the 2015 case is res judicata and bars the 2017 declaratory judgment.**

The 2017 declaratory judgment is the same thing that was alleged as the second cause of action in the 2015 case. Compare (2017 Compl. pp.1-3) with (2015 Compl.pp.5-6). In the 2015 case Judge Dennis ruled this cause of action was barred by the statute of limitations. (5/16/18 Or.p.1). DeClemente has not appealed that ruling. His appeal in the 2015 case is limited to Judge Nicholson’s grant of summary judgment on the first cause of action from his complaint.

Res judicata bars subsequent lawsuits between the same parties when the claims arise out of the same subject as a prior suit between them. *S.C. Pub. Interest Found. v. Greenville Cty.*, 401 S.C. 377, 385, 737 S.E.2d 502, 506 (Ct. App. 2013). Its fundamental purpose is to ensure no one is sued twice for the same cause of action. *Id.* at 386, 737 S.E.2d at 507.

Judge Dennis' unappealed ruling in the 2015 case is that DeClemente's claim for breach of the release is barred by the statute of limitations. That ruling is the law of the case and binds these parties.

**b. The default judgment in the 2011 case is res judicata as well.**

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